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      Prologue


      A Certain Day in December, 2018
Imperial Hotel Tokyo, Hibiya


      David Jean Pierre Garcia was in a foul mood that day. Despite having changed his indoctrination schedule to visit an island nation in the Far East, he hadn’t learned anything of value.


      “The organizers of that auction caused a huge uproar,” David muttered to himself. “But other than their ridiculous name of D-Powers, no one knows anything about them?”


      Enraged, he folded his arms, glaring down on the city from an upper floor of his hotel. The top members of this country’s financial circles seemed to have no interest in dungeons, and that disgusted him.


      David had built relatively strong connections in Europe’s political and financial circles. By using Marianne’s power, he’d won them over to his side, thereby gaining insight into various matters. Through these connections, he’d been introduced to similar circles in Japan. However, the people in Japan’s political and financial elite hadn’t given him any details. Much to his surprise, they’d regarded the orb auctions as being on the same level as art auctions.


      “I need to win the JDA and the upper echelons of the SDF over to my side,” David continued muttering to himself. “And perhaps someone related to the media.”


      The JDA managed dungeons, and the SDF focused on capturing them. Thus, these organizations would surely have more detailed information on the orb sellers. Furthermore, although those in the media were much the same as idiotic dogs—desperate to stick their noses into everything—sometimes they would come across unexpected windfalls. Winning them over to his side wouldn’t hurt.


      Where should I strike first? David wondered.


      Once he identified the target, “Nightmare” could take center stage—so long as the target was a man.


      David looked down on Hibiya Park. Despite being midwinter, the green foliage of trees covered the entire area. Buildings resembling lodges—their roofs green and red—stood around a large fountain. Like a colony of ants, people with black hair and black clothes busily walked around those buildings. As if to squash those ants, David pressed his index finger against the window, one corner of his mouth quirking into a smile.


      Brussels, Belgium


      “Tokyo is cold, isn’t it?” a woman asked.


      In response to this sudden question spoken in French, Asha turned around. “What?”


      There, Asha found a strangely sensual woman in a chic burgundy dress smiling at her.


      “You’re Jain’s daughter, aren’t you?” the woman asked.


      “Well, yes.”


      Without thinking, Asha answered in French, which was quite suspect when compared to her English.


      Who on earth is this person? Asha wondered. Considering how much she stands out, I would definitely remember her if we’d met before.


      “Congrats on your recovery,” the woman said sarcastically. “Thanks to you, my vacation to Miami was changed to the boring city of Tokyo. David needs to chill out with these little whims of his. If we were going to Okinawa, that would’ve been slightly better, at least.”


      “Sorry, but what are you talking about?” Asha asked.


      “Oh, don’t worry your little head about that. Well then, give my regards to the sorcerer in Tokyo.”


      Seeming satisfied with herself, the woman walked away, leaving Asha entirely clueless about the interaction. While Asha absentmindedly watched the woman go, a refined man in his thirties—whom Asha sometimes saw in European high society circles—called out to her.


      “What’s going on?” the man asked.


      “Oh, Monsieur Michel,” Asha said. “Good day to you.”


      “Hello. So did something happen here?”


      “No, not really, but do you know who that person is?”


      Michel followed Asha’s line of sight. “She’s one of Garcia’s close associates.”


      “Garcia?” Asha repeated. “Of Altum Foraminis?”


      “You know of him? Oh, that’s right...”


      Asha’s terrible injuries were a matter of public knowledge. As such, her father having approached the Church of the Deep Chasm—regarded by some as a healing cult—wouldn’t have been the least bit strange. But of course, her miraculous healing had taken place in Japan.


      “If I recall correctly, she’s called Sarah Magdalena,” Michel said.


      “That’s quite the name.”


      According to legend, Sarah had served the three women who’d watched over the crucifixion and burial of Jesus Christ. Yet in later times, the theory of her being the daughter of Jesus and Mary Magdalene had been popularized within fiction.


      Michel shrugged his shoulders in a playful manner. “But of course their holy woman is Marianne Thérèse Martin.”


      Thérèse Martin was a popular patron saint of France, who held a rose and a cross.


      “From what I’ve heard, that’s the actual name of Altum Foraminis’s holy woman,” Asha said.


      “Yes, one’s name and nature often coincide. Even so...” Once again, Michel looked at Sarah, who was speaking cheerfully with another man slightly up ahead. “Though she belongs to an upright religious organization, she’s a beautiful woman—bewitching and sociable enough to be called licentious. Be careful. I’ve heard some concerning rumors about her in certain circles.”


      “Concerning rumors?” Asha repeated.


      “Oops, I’ve said too much. Well then, have a pleasant day.”


      The rumors of a Japanese sorcerer—spread by Asha’s father—had taken on an unexpected life of their own. Ever since her recovery, all sorts of people had questioned Asha about her story. Some of these people had seemed connected to Altum Foraminis. At times, their prying interrogations about the events in Tokyo had been so forceful as to be rude.


      These people had approached her with a variety of questions, but in summary, they had all wanted to know “Who cast the enchantment upon you?”


      If these people had shared Asha’s troubles and had been seeking information, she wouldn’t have minded. But instead, their attitudes had been overenthusiastic and creepy.


      “What could be going on?” Asha wondered aloud.


      According to Sarah, she’d planned on going to Miami, but now she had to visit Tokyo. What reason could a religious organization known for selling miracles have for visiting Tokyo?


      I’ll have to discuss this with Kaygo later, Asha thought, making a mental note to herself.

    

  

  
    
      Chapter 04: Heaven’s Leaks


      December 6, 2018 (Thursday)
Yoyogi-Hachiman, Office


      One day after we’d learned the shocking contents of the inscriptions, Miyoshi and I started preparations to confirm their claims. This included but wasn’t limited to Mining. Of course, we couldn’t do anything about the total number of explorers reaching five hundred million. And so, as the publication of Heaven’s Leaks drew nearer, we decided to verify all the other information before things got busy.


      That being said, most of our “preparations” consisted of waiting for the food we’d ordered to be finished. Since I had time to spare, I made plans to tag along on Mitsurugi and Saito’s training during the weekend.


      “Haven’t you figured out by now that dungeon dates are the absolute worst?” Miyoshi quipped, but I ignored her. After all, this was training, not a date.


      Also, I decided not to use party functions this time, seeing as the information hadn’t been published anywhere. Though I didn’t think anything would come of it, I didn’t want to increase the chances of something unnecessary happening.


      December 8, 2018 (Saturday)
Yoyogi Dungeon


      “Hey there, Producer Yoshi,” Saito said. “It’s been too long.”


      I found Mitsurugi in her usual, inconspicuous corner seat of YD Café, a haughty Saito sitting beside her.


      “What’s with the weird greeting?” I asked. “And anyway, it’s only been two weeks, right?”


      “You’re incredibly lucky, getting to hang out with me twice in one month!” Saito countered.


      “Sure, sure. So what are we doing today?”


      Since our last training session, Saito had become hooked on the compound bow, and she wanted to try hunting the many wolves on the third level.


      “Since wolves are more agile than goblins, hunting them will be double the fun, right?” Saito asked.


      “Well, considering your and Mitsurugi’s current strength, it shouldn’t be dangerous,” I said. “Sounds good to me.”


      Unlike hunting real animals, defeating dungeon monsters felt more like playing a virtual reality game. They didn’t leave behind corpses, after all. Most people felt hardly any of the guilt associated with killing living creatures, and as of right now, no animal rights organizations had criticized monster extermination.


      When it came to increasing one’s stats, hunting the first-floor slimes was far more effective. However, true slime hunters were practically Zen warriors. If you kept beating up slimes in a meditative state, you might just attain enlightenment, but if you simply wanted entertainment or to blow off steam, wolves were definitely more interesting.


      In fact, levels one through four—usually called the “beginner’s levels”—were already used for this purpose. The alternate name of “amusement levels” wasn’t just for show either. Excluding the rather unamusing first floor, at least.


      Yet even on the top floors, a dungeon was still a dungeon. Letting your guard down could prove fatal. Of course, the same could be said for hunting and fishing outside dungeons.


      “This is so much fun,” a delighted Saito said at first. “Wolves are so much faster than goblins.” However, she soon changed her tune, remarking, “Wow, this gets old fast. These wolves don’t drop anything, and there’s nothing like the Goblin Treasure Boxes either.”


      Once the total number of explorers reached five hundred million, even weak monsters would begin dropping food. But currently, exterminating monsters on levels one through four yielded no rewards. Obviously, this would kill the adventurous spirit of relatively high-ranked explorers. Things might have been different if you could see your score like in a video game, but that didn’t seem possible.


      Or did it?


      What if we created goggles—similar to military eye guards—with cameras that could recognize a monster’s defeat, turn that defeat into a score, and display the points? Could we create an entertainment facility of some sort?


      Though cities like Yoyogi and New York had dungeons, they were in developed nations without famine. Registering explorers for eventual food drops would be slow going. But what if these cities had popular entertainment facilities?


      Such a business had probably never been established for two reasons. First, the return on investment would probably be too small when compared to the preparatory costs. Second, this entire model would endanger the lives of its clients. If someone died on the first day, the media would never stop lambasting the business. It could easily go out of business within a few months.


      On the other hand, the business owner could point out that bungee jumping posed a similar risk to its clientele’s lives. With that in mind, they could include an escort service staffed by explorers. In the end, such an entertainment facility could prove somewhat useful in increasing the number of explorers within developed nations.


      While considering this, I continued stealthily exterminating monsters to ensure Mitsurugi and Saito’s safety. After defeating a wolf, my kill count reached one hundred again.




      Skill Orb: AGIxHP+1 | 1 / 7,000,000


      Skill Orb: Super Sense | 1 / 500,000,000


      Skill Orb: Danger Sense | 1 / 2,000,000,000


      Skill Orb: Life Detection | 1 / 24,200,000,000




      A wolf dropping Life Detection was certainly fitting. Still, I could probably obtain two or three copies a month by hunting kobolds, despite it being an extremely rare orb. And so I chose Danger Sense for now.


      December 9, 2018 (Sunday)
Yoyogi Dungeon, First Level


      On the next day, Mitsurugi and I wandered Yoyogi’s first level like two Zen warriors seeking enlightenment. By beating up slimes, of course.


      Come next year, her job as a professional model would begin in earnest. Guess we can only hang out like this for the rest of the year, I thought while we ate lunch together. Afterwards, we planned our next get-together and parted ways.


      “My schedule should be flexible for the rest of the year,” Mitsurugi had said. “Feel free to contact me at any time.”


      Yoyogi-Hachiman, Office


      “Welcome back, Kei,” Miyoshi said. “How was your date?”


      “Does beating up slimes like a Zen warrior really count as a date?”


      “You certainly do make an odd couple.”


      As I hung my coat on the office hanger and sat down, Miyoshi brought me tea.


      “Speaking of which, I got a call from Asha,” she told me.


      “Really?”


      We’d met Asha Ahmed Jain—the daughter of a wealthy Indian businessman—last month through the Super Recovery auction. From what I’d heard, she’d fully recovered and returned to high society. Since not even a month had passed since then, what could she have been calling about?


      “She was mad about her calls not going through to you,” Miyoshi said.


      “Yeah, I was in the dungeon. But she’s not experiencing any side effects, right?”


      “If that were the case, her Papa Bear would’ve called first.”


      Ahmed Rahul Jain was an extremely capable and wealthy businessman. At the same time, he was an overly doting father who turned into absolute putty around his daughter, who greatly resembled his wife.


      “Yeah, I guess you’re right,” I said.


      “But anyway, she has an engagement here at the end of the year, and so she’ll be coming to hang out with us too.”


      “The end of the year?”


      “Apparently, her Papa Bear is attending some kind of party in the business world, and she’s tagging along,” Miyoshi explained.


      “Wow. That’s the bourgeoisie for you.”


      “From the sound of it, she has something to tell us that she couldn’t say over the phone.”


      “Something to tell us, huh? Hope it’s not too much trouble.”


      “Kei,” Miyoshi sighed. “She’s coming all the way to Japan from either India or Europe. This can’t be a simple conversation. Maybe she’s planning on proposing to you.”


      “Stop right there. Her Papa Bear will maul me to death. Still, she’s coming to hang out at the end of the year, right? We can’t just loaf around in the office for hours on end. Where should we take her? When I think of Japanese places, Meiji Shrine and Naritasan come to mind.”


      “You want to ring in the new year at a shrine? How traditional. Both of those places will have bloodthirsty crowds of three million people though.”


      True enough. Every year, you could only see the heads of people at Meiji Shrine.


      “Would Senso-ji be a better choice for a foreigner?” I asked.


      Miyoshi shrugged. “In any case, we’re going to be up against three million people.”


      “Yeah. Other than that... We could go to Disneyland, maybe?”


      “Well, Asha didn’t say anything more specific than ‘the end of the year,’ and we don’t know how many days she’s staying. Let’s think of plans once we have a concrete schedule.”


      I frowned. “That’s one way of doing things, but it’ll be hard to get reservations by then.”


      “Even now, we wouldn’t be able to get reservations at busy places. If worse comes to worst, we can always wage war against the slimes like a trio of Zen warriors.”


      “Listen here...”


      Forcing someone who came all the way to Japan during New Years to beat up slimes? I could think of nothing crueler.


      “Food will be the real problem,” I said.


      Hinduism had even more complicated food-related taboos than Islam. And depending on the individual and their caste, these rules could be followed in a variety of ways. When serving food, even experts had to adjust their menus to a uniformly strict standard. Beyond that, you could only ask your guest directly about their dietary restrictions.


      People of higher castes with strict diets wouldn’t even dine with people of differing castes, let alone with those who had consumed meat. Apparently, a meat-eater’s saliva was considered unclean. Needless to say, this made it difficult to bond with Western businessmen over a meal.


      “We shouldn’t have to worry too much about food,” Miyoshi said. “I don’t know what Asha’s family does in India, but when traveling abroad, they seem to take a flexible approach according to the country.”


      “You think so?”


      “Ahmed invited us out to a sushi restaurant, remember?”


      I nodded. “Yeah, he did say his family had no problem eating fish.”


      “And usually, it’s not customary for Hindus to eat raw food.”


      Of course, raw foods weren’t considered either clean or unclean. Eating them simply wasn’t customary.


      “If I had to guess, Mr. Papa Bear is skillfully taking advantage of the Laws of Manu,” Miyoshi said.


      In Hinduism, eating meat had become taboo after the Laws of Manu had been established. In chapter five of the modern version, fifty-six verses summarized what foods could and couldn’t be eaten. Since their establishment, these laws had exerted a great deal of influence on Hindu dietary customs.


      These dietary laws were truly ambiguous, and based on your interpretation, you didn’t have to give them much thought. A quick summary would be, “Killing is a no-go. Oh, but taking life to provide for one’s family isn’t killing. Neither are foods given as offerings.”


      Miyoshi was implying that Ahmed could avoid violating Hindu doctrine by interpreting these fifty-six verses in a flexible manner. But of course, issues of purity and impurity within Indian culture—as well as the caste system—had influenced dietary customs. As a prominent Indian man, Ahmed couldn’t completely ignore these influences.


      “Well, I call blasphemy,” I said.


      Miyoshi laughed at that.


      When engaging in cultural exchange, two people of different faiths had to stay open-minded while explaining themselves to each other. If they couldn’t understand one another, they would have no choice but to avoid or annihilate the other party.


      Our meeting with whomever is on the other side of the dungeons might be similar, I thought, the idea suddenly occurring to me.


      “So anyway, we’re going back to Yoyogi tomorrow, right?” Miyoshi asked.


      “Yep,” I replied. “We’ve got plenty to do this time, so it’ll be a marathon, not a race. First, we need to verify everything related to the party system.”


      “In that case, there are a few things I’d like to verify as well.”


      “Such as?”


      “While we’re collecting magic crystal treats for the Arthurs, I want to figure out how LUC affects drops. There are a few other minor things as well.”


      I nodded. “You want to start on the tenth level, then?”


      “That should be our main focus at the beginning of the exploration, yes.”


      “In that case, could you contact Naruse and ask her to come here early tomorrow morning?”


      “Huh?” Miyoshi asked, cocking her head. “Naruse already has a key to the office. Even if we’re gone, she should be able to get in.”


      “Before we leave, she needs to meet Cavall and the others.”


      “Oh, right. If they suddenly meet in the office after we’ve left...”


      “It could make for an amusing joke, but I don’t think she’ll laugh,” I finished.


      “She definitely won’t.”


      Even with Miyoshi and I acting as mediators, I couldn’t predict Naruse’s reaction to meeting the Arthurs.


      “Can we even publicly keep hellhounds as pets?” I asked. “What’ll happen if she orders us to get rid of them?”


      “Then I’ll have no choice but to live hidden away in the darkness.”


      “You plan on turning into some kind of yokai?”


      Miyoshi donned an unusually serious expression, seeming fired up about going to bat for the Arthurs. “Anyway, let’s do our best.”


      December 10, 2018 (Monday)
Yoyogi-Hachiman, Office


      It was a cold, windless, and slightly overcast day in Tokyo. You could see your breath in the chilly air.


      Naruse arrived at the office earlier than usual. “Good morning,” she greeted us, then took a seat at the dining room table, her expression worried.


      “You two are going to the eighteenth level this time, right?” she asked.


      “That’s the plan,” I replied. “Is something wrong?”


      “Well, about that...” At first, Naruse seemed conflicted about what to say. Then she began to speak again, choosing her words carefully. “Based on my investigations, there are a lot of rumors about the eighteenth level.”


      “Rumors?” I repeated.


      Naruse withdrew several documents from her bag. When you wanted to reference multiple pieces of information at once and didn’t need a search engine, paper still provided overwhelmingly better comprehension than tablets. After all, paper supplied a wealth of information outside text, such as the placement of the files, sense of touch, and so forth. These would act as triggers for memory.


      Miyoshi and I looked over the several pieces of paper that Naruse had lined up, which all contained information on the eighteenth level. The middle document was a map of the floor.


      “What’s this?” I asked. “The eighteenth level hasn’t been fully investigated?”


      Quite a few of the territories on the map were blank. Starting from the stairs leading down to the eighteenth level, almost everything to the right was unexplored territory.


      “There’s a cliff in that direction with a sea of clouds spreading below it,” Naruse explained.


      According to her, the SDF unit had postponed their investigation of the area below the cliff, finding the prospect too dangerous. Beginning from the stairs leading down to the eighteenth level, they had conducted their survey in a radial path. Fortunately, the stairs leading down to the nineteenth level had been discovered above the cliff. Thus, the survey unit had continued down to the lower levels.


      “And no surveys have been conducted since then?” I asked.


      Curiously, I traced my finger along a line that deviated from the radially surveyed territory. This area—which stretched towards a mountain—had also been fully investigated.


      “No, there haven’t been any surveys since the first one,” Naruse replied. “The reason for this is the route you’re looking at.”


      Naruse pointed to the top of a mountain called “Batian,” at the end of the line I’d traced. This wasn’t an uninvestigated area. Instead, it was an off-limits area.


      “Off-limits?” I asked, having never seen this sort of warning in a dungeon. “What’s this?”


      After taking a breath, Naruse lowered her voice and began to recount the incident as if telling a ghost story. “There was a mountain climber in the first SDF unit to survey the eighteenth level.”


      Upon seeing this mountain, he’d called it Batian Peak.(1) Afterwards, he and two other teammates had decided to survey the area around the summit.


      “So that’s why the area around the summit has been thoroughly investigated?” I asked. “The area outside the circle is mostly unexplored, and surveying the mountain would require a lot of effort, after all.”


      “Imagine those climbers sneaking away in the middle of the exploration to scale the mountain,” Miyoshi chimed in, amused. “If they received twenty-eight days of house arrest as punishment, that would be legendary!”


      “Why?” I asked.


      Point Lenana—one of Mount Kenya’s handful of peaks—had first been summited by three Italian men during the Second World War.(2) However, they’d also been captives of the British army. Of all things, these men had escaped imprisonment to climb Mount Kenya, and after descending, they’d returned to the POW camp. Consequently, they’d been placed in solitary confinement for twenty-eight days.


      “They turned themselves back in?” I asked incredulously. “Like the main characters from We’re No Angels?”


      “Exactly,” Miyoshi replied. “But honestly, that movie rankles me a bit.”


      “Why? The 1995 version is a nice Christmas movie. I like it better than It’s a Wonderful Life or Miracle on 34th Street.”


      Upon hearing this, an overly enthused Miyoshi clenched her fist into a ball. “Listen up, Kei. After the Christmas dinner scene, the cast leaves more than three fourths of an 1888 Château d’Yquem untouched! At that point, it was probably thirty years old! It was the same age as the protagonist, after all! How could they do such a thing?! For this, I swear vengeance upon the Ducotel family!”


      “You need to change your movie-viewing perspective,” I said with a sigh of exasperation.


      Sure, while watching Dogs of War, some viewers might get upset at Christopher Walken’s Glenfiddich being stolen. But only Miyoshi would concern herself with the brand of champagne being drunk by the soldiers in the final scene. By chance, we’d watched the movie together on satellite TV, and her final impressions had been “They’re using surprisingly nice glasses. Usually, you would drink straight from the bottle in this kind of situation.” In response to this, I’d nearly quipped, “Seriously? Is that what you should be focusing on right now?”


      In any case, breaking out of prison to climb a mountain was certainly eccentric. Of course, if you did something similar in a dungeon, monsters would immediately surround and kill you.


      Naruse—who’d been listening to our conversation with a smile—continued speaking, her expression not darkening. “Apparently, those team members were so absorbed with reaching the peak that they didn’t pay attention to anything else.”


      Well, what climber could resist summiting the mountain after coming so far?


      As I considered this, Naruse handed me a copy of a report.


      “What’s this?” I asked.


      According to the report, two of the three SDF soldiers who’d attempted to summit the mountain had received a two-rank promotion upon entering the area. In other words, they’d died.


      I cocked my head. “Huh?”


      “Because of this incident, the survey for the remaining area was put on hold,” Naruse explained.


      “Yeah, no kidding.” Though I read the report in detail, it didn’t include their cause of death. “So no one knows how they died?”


      Naruse nodded. “But there appears to be something at the top of the mountain,” she said simply.


      “Something?” I repeated.


      But apparently, no one had any details. The investigation report didn’t even include a cause of death, much less a physician’s statement on the deceased soldiers. Only the fact of their deaths and instructions not to approach the mountain were spelled out in a lifeless font.


      “No need to worry, Kei,” Miyoshi said in a carefree tone. “We’re pretty good at avoiding trouble. So long as we keep our distance, everything should be fine.” She then turned to ask Naruse a question. “Whatever’s there, it won’t leave the mountain, right?”


      “For now, at least,” Naruse answered.


      Is this the reason for the eighteenth level having so few explorers? I thought to myself.


      “Thanks for telling us all this,” I said. “We’ll avoid this mountain at any cos—”


      “About that,” Naruse interrupted. “The genomos live in the underground caverns dotting the area around the mountain.”


      “In that case...we’ll do our best to avoid the mountain.”


      “Please be careful.”


      When this lecture on the eighteenth level reached a stopping point, Miyoshi received digital versions of the files from Naruse. While observing this from the corner of my eye, I casually brought up another subject.


      “So anyway... Um, how should I put this? Before we leave, we’d like to introduce you to someone, Naruse.”


      “Introduce me to someone?” she repeated.


      We needed her to meet the Arthurs. Unsure of what to say, I nudged the owner’s (was that the correct term?) side with my elbow.


      “You’re up, Miyoshi.”


      “Umm, Naruse,” Miyoshi hedged. “Please stay calm and hear me out.”


      “Huh?” Naruse asked. “This is kind of scary. What’s going on?”


      Her smile twitching somewhat, Naruse nervously refolded her hands on top of her knees.


      Like a bus tour guide, Miyoshi pointed to the side with her palm. “Please look in this direction.”


      “Yes?”


      Still on the couch, Naruse turned to the right. Upon seeing Cavall sitting there rather adorably, she let forth an involuntary shriek.


      “Whoa!” I shouted. “Keep it down!”


      I raced over to cover Naruse’s mouth. This was a residential area, after all. Yes, we might have soundproofed this house, but if a piercing shriek leaked outdoors in broad daylight, our reputation would plummet.


      Naruse continued to let out a muffled scream. Her eyes wide with terror, she pressed her body against me, simultaneously flailing her arms and legs to escape from Cavall.


      “I-It’s okay!” I shouted. “Calm down!”


      Despite feeling as though I’d kidnapped a woman, I somehow managed to pacify Naruse. Once she’d stopped thrashing about, I removed my hand from her mouth. After being released, she continued to flap her mouth like a goldfish stranded on land. She kept her eyes on Cavall, not turning in Miyoshi’s direction.


      “Wh-What is this thing?” she asked in a trembling voice.


      “Umm... One of my pets?” Miyoshi answered.


      In response to this, Naruse glared at Miyoshi. “Your pets?” she repeated skeptically.


      “Yes, that’s right. Watch this.”


      As soon as Miyoshi had uttered these words, Cavall licked Naruse’s cheek with a wet tongue.


      “Eek...!”


      Her breath held, Naruse shot upright. She then turned her neck with an audible creak, meeting Cavall’s gaze. For a short while, human and hellhound stared at each other. Due to the odd tension dominating the room, Miyoshi and I also watched the situation unfold with bated breath.


      After a while, Naruse finally let out a breath, nervously patting Cavall on the nose. “A-At second glance, he does have a sort of charm to him. He might even be cute.”


      When the tension dissipated, Cavall also relaxed, his head and the outer corners of his eyes drooping.


      “He also feels much nicer than I would’ve imagined,” Naruse added.


      Indeed, the Arthurs’ fur was much softer than I’d first expected. Since it looked relatively stiff in battle, perhaps the hellhounds sent magic through their fur to increase its strength. In any case, it wouldn’t be an exaggeration to call them a ten out of ten on the fluffiness scale.


      As Naruse gradually grew used to Cavall, she began rubbing him all over. From the looks of it, she’d regained enough composure to enjoy his fluffiness.


      Once Naruse had fully calmed down, she told us that the WDA didn’t have any rules regarding permits or quarantines. Until now, no summoners or tamers had ever appeared, so such regulations had been unnecessary. Also, hellhounds didn’t appear on any notable lists, such as ones for dangerous or invasive animals. So even if we sent a notification to the government about keeping them as pets, those rules wouldn’t apply to the Arthurs.


      In other words, we simply needed to send in a notification for dogs, receive a permit, and have them receive their rabies shots. Of course, we couldn’t predict what sort of effect rabies shots would have on the Arthurs. That did pose a problem.


      “At any rate, you do have a fair amount of leeway,” Naruse said. “In the meantime, I’ll make inquiries at all the right places. For now, keep the hellhounds hidden, and keep a close eye on them.”


      “Thanks a bunch,” I said.


      That’s our full-time supervisor for you. She’s one dependable woman.


      If it became known that we were raising hellhounds, some research institute might try to take the Arthurs and use them as lab animals. However, forcefully taking someone’s property in Japan would be difficult. The owner simply had to refrain from handing over their pet. Long live the Land of the Rising Sun.


      Still, someone could kidnap them, I thought. But upon seeing Cavall sitting adorably on his haunches, I reconsidered. Nope, not possible.


      Dungeon-related rules had been playing catch-up for the past three years. Whenever a new problem arose, authorities had no choice but to come up with an impromptu solution. The hellhounds were yet another example of this.


      “Anyway, one of the hellhounds will always be guarding the grounds,” I told Naruse. “So you can continue translating without any worries.”


      With that, Miyoshi and I left the office.


      Yoyogi Dungeon


      “Honestly, I didn’t expect her to be so surprised,” Miyoshi said.


      “If you turned around and found a hellhound sitting there, surprise would be the normal reaction. In fact, I’m impressed she didn’t pass out.”


      And that wet lick to the cheek must have felt like a taste test before being gobbled up.


      “I guess,” Miyoshi said. “But they’re so cute.”


      “All owners think their pets are cute.”


      Objectively speaking, the hellhounds were frightening. But since they acted exactly like puppies, they grew cuter over time.


      After descending into Yoyogi Dungeon’s first level, we moved into a room with no other people.


      “Well then, shall we test out the party system first?” I asked.


      “Sounds good.”


      Parties formed through the dungeon system still hadn’t been announced to the general public. When Heaven’s Leaks went live on Christmas Day, we would use this party system to authenticate the site’s claims. Thus we hadn’t formed a party with anyone since our initial tests. And during this exploration, we would be running more tests.


      Admit, I thought in English while touching my D-Card to Miyoshi’s.


      Nothing stimulated my visual or auditory senses, but just like last time, I felt as though a strange link had been established between me and Miyoshi.


      “Is this ‘sense of connection’ a UI that signals joining a party?” Miyoshi asked while looking at the back of her D-Card.


      “Probably,” I replied. “It’s more of an instinctual feeling than a UI, though.”


      Of course, the back of one’s D-Card also had a party member list. By looking at that list, you could visually confirm you’d joined a party.


      While verifying our telepathic abilities, the XP distribution rates, and our party order, we headed down to the tenth level.


      Yoyogi Dungeon, Tenth Level


      Though hearing this might have caused most explorers’ eyes to bulge, Miyoshi and I planned to spend the night on the tenth level, which was relatively safe for us. After all, none of the monsters there could overturn Dolly, and there were no explorers around to see us. Finally, since Miyoshi could attack from within Dolly, this floor was a veritable paradise for her.


      “Should we exterminate another 373 zombies?” Miyoshi asked.


      “About that. If the Wandering Manor doesn’t disappear until midnight, those monsters will chase us around all evening, even if we’re on the other side of the gates.”


      If other explorers were around, the situation could turn into a gruesome MPK train.(3) And unlike in a game, the slaughtered people wouldn’t come back to life.


      “Then even if we do cause the Wandering Manor to appear, let’s make sure it’s close to midnight,” Miyoshi said.


      During this conversation, we ambled down the shortest possible route to the tenth level. By the time we reached the stairs to the tenth floor, around six hours had passed.


      As a general rule, most explorers despised the tenth level, but honestly, it was a great place for running experiments. The graveyard overflowed with monsters that possessed standard drop items, and they would approach you without any effort on your part. Plus, since there were very few species of different monsters, we wouldn’t struggle to exterminate a high number of the same kind. All in all, this would be the perfect level to verify what effect LUC had on the drop rate of standard items and magic crystals.


      While casually mowing down undead, we headed in the opposite direction from the eleventh level stairs. At the same time, we moved a sufficient distance from the stairs leading back up. Finally, we arrived—as usual—in a place devoid of people. We then took out Dolly and climbed aboard her.


      “Phew,” I sighed.


      Closing my eyes, I slumped down onto the dinette sofa. Miyoshi booted up an array of monitors, allowing us to keep watch on our surroundings.


      “Keeping track of my kill count is difficult,” I said. “Do you think we could use camera footage to count the number of monsters I’ve defeated?”


      “Since all the recognition APIs that might be useful are in the cloud, we couldn’t use them in the dungeons. And even if we could use them, sending the videos would take a whole lot of time, so in actuality, it wouldn’t be practical. If we had an AI learn to recognize monsters, we might be able to make do with a stand-alone application. But after taking angle changes into account, determining through video footage whether you’ve killed a monster would be pretty difficult, right?”


      Even if the application could recognize that you landed a direct hit on a monster, it wouldn’t know if the monster had truly died until its body disappeared. But what if the monster disappeared when the camera angle shifted? The application wouldn’t be able to distinguish between a live monster moving out of frame and an exterminated monster vanishing.


      “Do you think a less accurate judgment might be possible?” I asked.


      Miyoshi cocked her head. “Like simply knowing if the attack landed or not?”


      “Exactly. Afterwards, if the monster disappeared from the camera, the application could judge it as being dead. It doesn’t have to be that strict.”


      “If strictness isn’t an issue, it might be possible.”


      During this conversation, Miyoshi had been activating all the sensors. Now, she sat on the three-person sofa to my left, leaning forwards and donning a smile that seemed to say, “All right, spit it out.”


      “Well then, Kei. Where are you going with this, exactly?”


      “A-About that,” I stammered. “I went dungeon diving with Saito and Mitsurugi the other day, remember?”　


      I then explained how Saito had been enjoying hunting wolves at first, but after a little while, she’d grown tired of it.


      “Yeah, that makes sense,” Miyoshi said.


      If someone dreamed of becoming a professional explorer from the outset, their goal could be enough motivation to continue grinding. On the other hand, hunting goblins and wolves might excite casuals at first, but once they grew accustomed to it, the boredom would set in. This was probably inevitable, what with there being no incentives or ways in which to stand out. But at this rate, the number of people working towards the capture of dungeons wouldn’t increase.


      “So what if we made goggles that displayed points when you defeated a monster?” I asked. “The number of people who made a game out of leveling up their stats would increase, right?”


      “And as a by-product, we could utilize urban dungeons in order to reach five hundred million total explorers,” Miyoshi said. “Is that the idea?”


      “More or less.”


      When food drops became public knowledge, I could easily imagine regions experiencing food shortages—and those expecting to in the future—increasing their number of explorers as a national policy. Yet as things currently stood, the number of registered explorers in developed countries wouldn’t see much growth. Furthermore, there weren’t even one hundred dungeons in the entire world.


      “If we added a million people to each dungeon, we wouldn’t even reach one hundred million new explorers,” I said.


      Miyoshi nodded. “Even if ten to twenty thousand new explorers registered each day, we wouldn’t reach ten million in a whole year.”


      “Exactly. But speaking of registered explorers—once we publish the party information, their numbers will probably increase dramatically, even in urban areas.”


      You could gain telepathic abilities, after all. Everyone would want to try that. Yet in terms of capturing dungeons, the total number of explorers who ventured beyond the beginner levels would continue to pose a problem.


      “Still, having a small set of goggles perform all these functions would be difficult.” After a short pause, Miyoshi began turning our conversation into something realistic. “On the second floor of Yoyogi, you could probably run electric cables from above. And so, if you brought in a server and connected it to Wi-Fi, you might be able to create a facility that matches your vision.”


      In Yoyogi, the first level’s entrance and exit were very close to one another. Even if those cables extended to the second level, you ran very little risk of slimes melting them, so long as you posted guards.


      “This sort of game would be a bit too large-scale to play by yourself,” Miyoshi said. “But if the JDA or a private company operated the facility, they could charge a fee for thirty-minute sessions. And if you matched players together, it could become as widespread as Airsoft. Minigames like ‘Wolf Hunting Co-op’ could become a thing.”


      “Also, if you turned points into rankings and created a site to view them, that might motivate people to play,” I added.


      “Even so, we’re talking about dungeons here.”


      “But it sounds fun, right? Like a real VRMMO. Wait, like real virtual reality? That doesn’t make sense.”


      Miyoshi chuckled. “That aside, it would also be a real death game, remember?”


      “Yeah, I guess so.”


      “If you didn’t receive a written pledge from the players, and someone died, you wouldn’t be able to avoid responsibility.”


      I frowned. “True enough.”


      Even if you received a written pledge and avoided legal responsibility, enthusiasm for the game would inevitably plummet.


      “Wait, who the hell would willingly play a game like that?!” I cried. “If you could log out of Sword Art Online, everyone would have done so the minute an incident occurred!”


      “No arguments there.”


      I was at a loss for words, but eventually wondered, “Did we both get hit over the head with the stupid hammer?”


      “Don’t be overdramatic, Kei. The idea itself is interesting. When you hear ‘real death game,’ it doesn’t sound so great, but if you call it an esport, it suddenly sounds acceptable, right? Even in boxing and F1, accidents can lead to death.”


      “So first, it needs to be established as a sport or form of recreation,” I said. “And if it’s made to be as safe as possible, we’ll be okay?”


      “People wanting to be promoters might even pop up.”


      “You make it sound like someone else’s problem.”


      “I mean, do you want to get into this business, Kei?”


      Now that she mentioned it, I just had a small desire to play this game myself. I hadn’t even considered using this idea for a business. The entire premise seemed like way too much trouble in every possible respect.


      “Not in the slightest,” I replied.


      “Right?! Developing the game and participating as a grassroots player sounds fun, but profiting from a real death game? That’ll be a hard pass from me.”


      In the end, we decided to try developing the fundamental technology just for fun. After having a meal, we stood up, preparing to fulfill the original purpose of this dive.


      “Guess we’ll just have to count our kills the old-fashioned way,” I said while moving over to the bunk beds. “For now, let’s each defeat one hundred skeletons and compare the number of bones we end up with.”


      “You got it.”


      “Oh, and we need to check your LUC before that.”


      Checking Miyoshi’s stats was somewhat of a hassle. But put simply, she would Appraise me, and I would adjust my stats to the smallest value at which the result became zero. Since we already knew Miyoshi’s stats from the previous measurement, I could find this value relatively easily by starting with her previous LUC. Then I would increase the value by one point at a time.


      To prepare for this, I called up Making.




      Name: Keigo Yoshimura


      Rank: 1


      SP: 674.029


      HP: 250.00


      MP: 190.00


      STR: [-] 100 [+]


      VIT: [-] 100 [+]


      INT: [-] 100 [+]


      AGI: [-] 100 [+]


      DEX: [-] 100 [+]


      LUC: [-] 100 [+]


      ->> Azusa Miyoshi




      “What the heck?!”


      Upon seeing a different display than usual, I couldn’t repress a shout. The name “Azusa Miyoshi” had appeared beneath my statuses.


      “Could this be...?” I muttered to myself.


      Timidly, I tapped Miyoshi’s name, and the exact display I’d anticipated appeared.




      Name: Azusa Miyoshi


      SP: 2.863


      HP: 21.70


      MP: 32.50


      STR: [-] 8 [+]


      VIT: [-] 9 [+]


      INT: [-] 18 [+]


      AGI: [-] 11 [+]


      DEX: [-] 13 [+]


      LUC: [-] 10 [+]




      “M-Miyoshi, look at this.”


      I leaned over the side of the bunk bed and pointed to the screen. But of course, Miyoshi couldn’t see anything related to Making.


      “What is it?” Miyoshi asked. “Did something happen?”


      “No, um... Tell me—how much SP have you gained so far?”


      “Huh? Hold on a second.” Miyoshi pulled up the records on her PC and checked the value. “About 4.86.”


      The Making screen read “SP: 2.863.” In other words, around fifty percent of her SP had been naturally distributed to her statuses.


      “What is it, Kei?” Miyoshi asked. “You’ve got me curious.”


      “To tell you the truth...”


      I told Miyoshi about her name appearing on Making’s status screen and what happened when I tapped it. In short, this function would allow me to tweak the stats of my fellow party members.


      “Are you serious?!” Miyoshi cried.


      “Seems like it.”


      Miyoshi’s eyes lit up for a single moment, but she soon regained her senses, speaking calmly. “But Kei...” Tilting her head, she continued speaking as if to confirm her doubts. “When you gain SP, it’s naturally allocated to your statuses according to your actions, right?”


      “Seems that way.”


      Based on what I’d seen from Mitsurugi and Saito, that hypothesis seemed correct.


      After the rebar incident, my SP hadn’t been naturally distributed, but perhaps my acquisition of Making had something to do with that. Still, considering the short amount of time between the rebar incident and my actual use of Making, maybe it took a while for SP to transform into stats. The process could be similar to ingesting nutrients, which our bodies took a decent amount of time to actually absorb.


      “You’ve talked about the status editing function before,” Miyoshi said. “As I recall, you can’t return distributed points to the SP pool, right? So in this case, wouldn’t the ability to edit be meaningless?”


      Certainly, being able to weaken someone but not strengthen them seemed almost pointless.


      “Actually, here’s the thing,” I said.


      I then explained to Miyoshi that she had 2.863 SP remaining. Likewise, around two points had been naturally distributed.


      “In other words, around fifty percent of the SP you acquire is naturally distributed?” Miyoshi asked.


      “If we’re judging from this one example, it definitely looks that way. The remaining half might turn into actual stats over a longer period of time.”


      “Then does that mean...?” After trailing off, Miyoshi began speaking with renewed excitement and vigor. “When someone joins your party, you can distribute half their SP to their desired status?!”


      “Y-Yeah, I guess so.”


      “Kei!”


      “Hold on, Miyoshi. We can’t use this to make money or to help explorers we barely know.”


      After all, those people would need to form a party with me. That alone would be a high bar to clear. Other than Miyoshi, it would only feel natural to form a party with Mitsurugi, Saito, and perhaps Naruse.


      I could never walk up to a stranger in real life and say, “Hey there, buddy. Wanna join my party?” Even in a game, that sounded like an impossible task for me. And in the rare case that someone did show interest, they would inevitably ask to see my D-Card to verify my abilities. And obviously, I couldn’t show my D-Card to anyone.


      Miyoshi considered this for a moment before speaking. “I think it depends on how you bring the offer to them.”


      “What do you mean?”


      “Let’s see... You could call what you’re doing a ‘dungeon boot camp.’ After joining your party, that person will participate in mystery activities for the next few days.”


      “Uh, mystery activities?” I repeated skeptically.


      “Those can be anything, so long as they seem likely to result in death. And when the boot camp comes to an end, you can add SP into the participants’ desired statuses. ‘Oh my, what’s this?’ everyone will ask. ‘Your boot camp leveled me up in the exact way I wanted it to!’ But of course, you’ll want to level them up a little bit at a time, not all at once.”


      “Wait, did you just say, ‘seems likely to result in death’?”


      “Which one are people more likely to be satisfied with?” Miyoshi asked. “Power they gained easily, or power they gained through repeated hard work?”


      If you asked me to pick one, I would definitely choose the former, but I couldn’t argue with the latter being more convincing.


      “Guess you have a point,” I conceded.


      But if the boot camp produced dramatic results, I would be flooded with applications from all over the world. And to a certain extent, I wanted to enjoy my freedom. Getting mixed up in something like that sounded awful to me.


      “I’ve gotta be honest,” I said. “Being forced to run that boot camp day in and day out? Sounds like a terrible life to me.”


      “Hmm. We could narrow down the participants by applying some set of conditions.”


      “And what would those be?”
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